1.3 2011 COT 28 PH 3: 22 SETE OF WASHIN []

NO. 45223-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II** 

STEVE KLEIN, INC., d/b/a KLEIN HONDA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

## KLEIN HONDA'S OPENING BRIEF

Michele Radosevich Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Appellant

1201 Third Avenue ,Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

A vehicle manufacturer has three main avenues open to it when it wishes to stimulate sales. First, it can offer a price reduction to the ultimate consumer in the form of a rebate, coupon, or the like. Second, it can pay the retailer to engage in specified advertising or other sales promotional activities. And third, it can offer a price reduction on goods sold to the retailer in order to give the retailer greater bargaining power. Each of these approaches is treated differently for state tax purposes under published guidance from the Department of Revenue ("Department").

The first approach has no effect on retailer income. The consumer gets the rebate savings, and the retailer gets the same amount it would have received had there been no rebate. The amount of the rebate is part of the selling price and thus taxable under the retailing classification. The second approach requires the retailer to perform extra services and therefore results in increased income to the retailer, taxable at the B&O rate for services. The third approach simply reduces the retailer's cost of inventory and thus is not taxable.

At issue here are amounts received by Steve Klein Inc., d/b/a Klein Honda ("Klein") from American Honda Motors Company ("Honda" or "factory") in the form of cash back for the sales of certain vehicles during specified time periods (referred to herein as "dealer cash"). No additional

services were performed by Klein other than the sale of the vehicle. The sole issue in this case is whether dealer cash is a rebate that reduces the dealer's vehicle cost, in which case it is not taxable, or whether dealer cash is a payment for service.

These distinctions between these types of payments are not new, yet the Department has ignored its own published guidance. The Department has told taxpayers that the test for taxability is whether the retailer is required to provide a service in exchange for the payment or merely sell the product. Excise Tax Advisory ("ETA") 3173.2013 (Jan. 2013). Where, as here, the payment is an incentive to sell more product, the payment simply reduces the retailer's cost and is not taxable.

In the original determination in this matter, the Appeals Division found that, even though Klein performed no additional services in exchange for the rebates it received, merely selling cars was sufficient to make the rebate income from services. AR 227. On executive level appeal, the Director affirmed this holding, stating that dealer cash is a payment for "action." AR 786. Neither addressed the fact that this "action" is already required by the dealer's franchise agreement, dealer cash or no.

The Board of Tax Appeals ("BTA") went one step farther than the Department, holding that, in the case of dealer cash, "a taxpayer can have

DWT 22852509v1 0089013-000001

taxable income from business activity without providing any specific services." AR 27. <sup>1</sup> This position was not argued by the Department and is contrary to law and to the Department's own longstanding precedents.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

The BTA erred as a matter of law in holding that payments of dealer cash by Honda to Klein are subject to B&O tax.

1. Did the BTA err in stating that "the taxpayer can have taxable income from business activity without providing any services"?

2. Did the BTA err in failing to consider whether dealer cash was part of gross income?

3. Can the BTA's result can be upheld on the alternate ground argued by the Department, i.e., that Klein did provide service to Honda in exchange for dealer cash, despite the fact that the BTA made no such finding and no evidence supports it?

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Klein is an automobile dealership conducting business in Washington State. VTP 31.<sup>2</sup> The taxpayer sells new and used vehicles, provides automobile repair services and sells automobile accessories. *Id.* Klein is a Honda franchisee. *Id.* The relationship is governed by the Sales and Service Agreement between the parties. AR 309.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Administrative Record is referred to herein as "AR."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings is referred to herein as "VTP."

Klein and other Honda dealers must purchase vehicles from Honda. AR 314. They have little discretion over their inventory. As Tom Hunt, the general manager at Klein, testified, Honda sends the dealer a presumptive order. VTP 38-39. The dealer may remove vehicles from the order but it cannot add them. *Id.* The order is based on prior sales history. VTP 39. Honda then ships the ordered vehicles to the dealer, issuing an invoice to the dealer for each vehicle when it ships. VTP 41, 43. AR 765, 767, 769. The invoice states a price, and the dealer remits that amount to Honda. *Id.*, VTP 43.

The invoice also states: "Dealer's invoice may not reflect dealer's ultimate vehicle cost given any rebates, allowances, collections, discounts, holdback, incentives, etc." AR 765, 767, 769, VTP 49. These adjustments to the dealer's cost come in several forms. Dealer cash is credit from Honda to Klein that is predicated on the sale of a particular vehicle model during a particular period of time. AR 285. Honda tracks the sale of Honda vehicles by model. On a regular basis, Honda will issue a marketing bulletin to its dealers offering credit back on the sale of certain models within a specified time frame. AR 723 et seq. At the hearing, witness Tom Hunt described the theory behind dealer cash:

Dealer cash is a means by which American Honda kind of puts more momentum behind a particular vehicle line or model. And when I say that, I mean that what they do is they adjust the vehicle's presence in the marketplace, usually as a reaction to competitive action, which typically would be rebates, consumer rebates, and allowing the Honda dealers to remain in a competitive position on that particular model.

VTP 50.

For instance, the bulletin at AR 727 shows that Honda offered the dealers \$500 back for each Civic Coupe sold between June 3, 2003 and September 30, 2003. The rebate is contingent only upon selling the designated car within the designated time. *Id.*, AR 285. Klein does not have to do any marketing or advertising or even pass the savings along to customers. At any given time, Honda may offer dealer cash on several models. VTP 51.

Klein does not market cars differently when they carry dealer cash.

As Tom Hunt testified:

In the sales process, it comes down to ultimately being competitive in the marketplace. And that's what the dealer incentives allow the Honda dealer to do, allows Klein Honda to do. If, for example, Toyota puts a significant rebate on a Corolla, and we have a customer cross shopping with a Civic, without the dealer incentive, you can have a \$1,000, \$1,500 difference in acquisition costs. And having the dealer incentive to the Honda dealer allows us to reprice our cars so they can be competitive. So it essentially allows us to lower our price to be competitive in the market.

VTP 52.

There are minimal, if any, additional clerical tasks associated with dealer cash. Klein is already required to report *all* sales to Honda on a daily basis by VIN number, using Honda's proprietary network. VTP 53-54, AR 771. Honda computers recognize the specific models from the VIN numbers. On a monthly basis, Honda prepares a miscellaneous credit advice for the dealer showing the amount of dealer cash earned by VIN number. VTP 71, AR 779. The actual credit is made via the balance forward statement that summarizes every transaction between the factory and the dealer for the month, except for new car purchases. AR 772, *see also*, e.g., AR 728. This statement, prepared by Honda, offsets items purchased by the dealer, like parts, against credits for warranty work, holdback, flooring, and dealer cash. AR 772. It is used by the dealer to prepare a monthly reconciliation between it and the factory.

Two other credits that lower the dealer's cost are holdbacks and flooring assistance. The so-called "holdback" refers to a credit that Honda provides for every vehicle. VTP 44. The amount of the credit is actually listed on the invoice in a somewhat obscure fashion. For instance, the invoice at AR 769 shows a MSRP of \$17,310.00 and in the same line

shows the number 51930. Adding a decimal point makes this number \$519.30 or exactly three percent of the MSRP. This three percent is the holdback paid by Klein, then credited back by Honda.

Similarly, Honda provides a "flooring" credit for each vehicle. It is intended to help offset the dealer's cost of financing inventory. VTP 45. Like the holdback it is paid as a credit on the monthly statement. The Department recognizes that these credits reduce the dealer's purchase price for the vehicle and does not subject them to B&O tax. *See* Auto Dealers Industry Guide, AR 172-74.

There are also payments by Honda to Klein that are taxable payments for services, such as pre-delivery inspection, warranty work, and advertising. VTP 48, 51.

## **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. The BTA Did Not Engage in the Proper Analysis.

Car dealers, like other businesses, are taxed on the "gross income of the business," which is defined as:

the value proceeding or accruing by reason of the transaction of the business engaged in and includes gross proceeds of sales, compensation for the rendition of services, gains realized from trading in stocks, bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness, interest, discount, rents, royalties, fees, commissions, dividends, and other emoluments however designated, all without any deduction on account of the cost of tangible property sold, the cost of materials used, labor costs, interest, discount, delivery costs, taxes, or any other expense whatsoever paid or accrued and without any deduction on account of losses.

When the car dealer sells a vehicle, it engages in the business activity of retailing, requiring it to pay retailing B&O and collect sales tax on the first category of income in the above statute, gross proceeds of sale. *See* RCW 82.04.250. The Department does not contest that Klein Honda properly paid tax on its retailing activity.

Car dealers also have income that comes from the manufacturer for performing services such as preparing the car for sale or doing warranty work, as well as non-taxable rebates from the manufacturer that help the dealer finance its inventory. The Department taxes only the payments that fall within the second category of "gross income" in the statute, "compensation for the rendition of services." This income is a business activity taxable under RCW 82.04.290 as services.

The issue before the BTA was whether dealer cash is a taxable payment for services or whether dealer cash is a payment from the manufacturer for selling a vehicle, in which case, it is simply a non-

taxable rebate on the dealer's wholesale purchase. The BTA<sup>3</sup> did not address this question, instead holding that Klein Honda could have taxable income without providing services, a position that was not argued by the Department. AR 27. The BTA did not state what category of "gross income" dealer cash constituted, nor did it make any factual findings that would support a particular category.

The BTA's decision is fairly terse, but it analyzes dealer cash as if the payment itself were a business activity, instead of considering what Klein Honda does in exchange for the payment and what the proper measure of tax therefore is. The decision ignores the definition of gross income and categorizes dealer cash as "other" business activity, failing to recognize that this does not answer the question of whether dealer cash is part of the gross income of the car dealer.

## B. The Proper Analysis Takes Into Account Both the Nature of the Business Activity and the Measure of Tax.

The proper analysis requires identification of the business activity and, based on that activity, the proper measure of tax. Receiving dealer cash—or any other payment—is not a business activity. Selling cars is a business activity. So are preparing vehicles for sale and servicing and repairing vehicles. Washington law defines a variety of business activities

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  The BTA is a three person board, but the decision was issued by a single board member, apparently because of an illness and a retirement. AR 18.

and subjects them to varying levels of B&O tax. Besides retailing (RCW 82.04.250) and services (RCW 82.04.290), other business activities include extracting, wholesaling, manufacturing, and other more narrow categories. *See, e.g.*, RCW 82.04.230, RCW 82.04.240, RCW 82.04.260, RCW 82.04.270. The services category includes "other" activities not enumerated, but refers only to other activities, not other payments.

Selling cars falls within the retail classification, for which tax is measured by RCW 82.04.250(1):

Upon every person engaging within this state in the business of making sales at retail, except persons taxable as retailers under other provisions of this chapter, as to such persons, the amount of tax with respect to such business is equal to the *gross proceeds of sales* of the business, multiplied by the rate of 0.471 percent.

Under RCW 82.04.070, "'Gross proceeds of sales' means the value proceeding or accruing from the sale of tangible personal property. . ." In turn, "Value proceeding or accruing" means the consideration, whether money, credits, rights, or other property expressed in terms of money, actually received or accrued. . ." RCW 82.04.090. Reading these definitions together, "gross proceeds of sales" refers to the consideration paid by the car buyer to the dealer. The "tax applies to everything that is earned, received, paid over to, or acquired by seller from purchaser or latter's alter ego. *Engine Rebuilders, Inc. v. State*, 66 Wn.2d 147, 401 P.2d 628 (1965). Because dealer cash does not come from the consumer or an agent of the consumer, it does not fit this category.<sup>4</sup>

There is no dispute that Klein Honda has paid B&O tax on the gross proceeds of its sales. Therefore, if dealer cash is a payment for selling cars, dealer cash is not part of the tax base for this business activity, which is measured by sales proceeds from *customers*.<sup>5</sup> Because the source of dealer cash is the manufacturer from which the dealer purchased the vehicle, it is treated as a reduction in the wholesale price, which has no effect on the dealer's tax.

If, on the other hand, dealer cash were a payment for services (or some other activity) in addition to selling, then RCW 82.04.290(2) would apply:

(a) Upon every person engaging within this state in any business activity other than or in addition to an activity taxed explicitly under another section in this chapter or subsection (1) or (3) of this section; as to such persons the amount of tax on account of such activities shall be equal to the *gross income of the business* multiplied by the rate of 1.5 percent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If dealer cash were part of the gross proceeds of sale of a vehicle, it would also be subject to retail sales tax, a position the Department has never taken.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Department concedes this point. See Respondent's Brief at 15, n. 8 (CP 59).

(b) This subsection (2) includes, among others, and without limiting the scope hereof . . . persons engaged in the business of rendering any type of service which does not constitute a "sale at retail" or a "sale at wholesale. . . ."

The tax base for the services and other category of business activity is gross income of the business, which is broader than the retailing tax base and would include dealer cash as "compensation for the rendition of services" if services were in fact rendered. Here the Department appears to be arguing that dealer cash is exchanged for some extra effort to sell a vehicle. But selling cannot be the "other activity" under the services category. Selling is its own category with its own statutory tax base.

Thus, the issue in this case is, what does Klein Honda do in exchange for dealer cash? The Court cannot avoid the issue, as the BTA did, by reciting that most business activity is taxable without articulating the nature of the business activity. If Klein Honda simply sells the car, there is no additional tax. If it performs some sort of additional service, the payment is taxable.

## C. The Department's Own Guidance to Taxpayers Does Not Support the BTA Analysis.

The Department has long published taxpayer guidance that distinguishes between the various payments made by auto manufacturers to dealers. According to the Auto Dealers Industry Guide published by

the Department, "[p]ayments that are bona fide cash discounts taken by the dealer or represent an adjustment to the dealer's purchase price are not subject to tax." AR 174. The Guide distinguishes these reductions in purchase price from payments for services such as inspection and repair.

The Department elaborated on this principle in a recent Excise Tax Advisory<sup>6</sup> directed to grocery stores, which also have various discounts from manufacturers or distributors:

> A bona fide discount is, for example, when the distributor grants the grocer either a discount or some form of payment for doing nothing more than purchasing products from the distributor. The Department of Revenue's long standing position is that a discount is not *bona fide* if it is in exchange for a service or benefit, whether this is done pursuant to a written contract, business practice, or oral agreement. Generally a *bona fide* discount negotiated by the grocer upon purchase of the goods does nothing more than encourage the grocer to make sales they were already going to make. However, if a grocer performs a service in addition to selling the goods in exchange for the discount, then the discount is not bona fide.

ETA 3173.2013 at 1, dated January 7, 2013 (underline added), (Appendix

A). The advisory goes on to use an example that is analogous to dealer

cash:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> An Excise Tax Advisory is an official interpretive statement by the Department authorized by RCW 34.05.230.

Examples of discounts that are bona fide when the distributor providing the allowance does not receive a service of benefit from the grocer in return include, but are not limited to . . .[s]can down allowance. An example of a scan down allowance is when a distributor gives the grocer a payment or credit for selling a specific volume of products during a specific timeframe.

*Id*. at 2.

The Department of Revenue's long-standing position is that a discount is not *bona fide* if it is in exchange for a service or benefit, whether this is done pursuant to a written contract, business practice, or oral agreement." ETA 3173.2013. The ETA uses the adjective "long-standing" and cites to Det. No. 98-172E, 18 WTD 387 (1999) (AR 189), which also deals with grocery discounts. It could also have pointed to Det. No. 98-183, 18 WTD 220 (1999), Det. No. 93-078, 12 WTD 599 (1993), or Det. No. 91-263, 11 WTD 263 (1991) which all articulate this principle. *See also* Det. No. 01-080ER (AR 181) (discussing prior cases). The Department's auto dealer-specific guidance also states that bona fide discounts are not taxable, while payments "for providing any services to the manufacturer are subject to B&O tax." AR 174.

The analysis used by the Department for retailers is consistent with case law regarding "business activity" in other contexts. *Peshastin Lumber & Box, Inc. v. State*, 61 Wn.2d 413, 414, 378 P.2d 420 (1963),

involved an effort by the state to impose additional tax on a lumber company because its contracts required it to build logging roads for which it received an allowance. The court disagreed: "There was no showing by the [Department], in other words, that the [taxpayer] was required to do any more under these contracts than it would do, as a prudent operator, if there were no specifications." *Id.* at 417.

This Court should not allow the Department to abandon this analysis simply because the BTA failed to use it. The BTA test, now being championed by the Department, is no test at all. It simply assumes that a manufacturer's *payment* itself constitutes a business activity and that all business activity is taxable. Neither the BTA nor the Department even tries to articulate the nature of the business activity. If this is the test, then any rebate given in the form of a payment back to the purchaser is taxable, including categories the Department has long recognized as nontaxable. There is no limiting principle.

# D. If This Court Applies the Proper Test, It Must Reverse the BTA.

If the test for taxability is whether Klein Honda performed extra services in exchange for dealer cash, then this Court must find that dealer cash is not taxable because the BTA did not make a finding of fact that

any services were performed. By omitting such a finding and looking for

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