NO. 45223-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVE KLEIN, INC., d/b/a Klein Honda,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Andrew J. Krawczyk, WSBA No. 42982 Assistant Attorney General Heidi A. Irvin, WSBA No. 17500 Senior Counsel Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Courts review formal decisions of the Board under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW Ch. 34.05. RCW 82.03.180. The burden of demonstrating the invalidity of the Board's action is on Klein Honda as the party asserting invalidity. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); *Olympic Tug & Barge, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 163 Wn. App. 298, 306, 259 P.3d 338 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1021 (2012); *see also*

Ford Motor Co. v. City of Seattle, Exec. Servs. Dep't, 160 Wn.2d 32, 41, 156 P.3d 185 (2007) (taxpayer has burden to show a B&O tax assessment is incorrect). Under the APA, relief may be granted only if it is determined that Klein Honda has been "substantially prejudiced" by the Board's decision. RCW 34.05.570(1)(d).

Klein Honda claims the Board committed legal error in holding that Klein Honda owed B&O tax on dealer cash payments it received from American Honda. Opening Br. at 3; CP 6 (Petition for Judicial Review). A court may grant relief from an agency order when the agency has "erroneously interpreted or applied the law." RCW 34.05.570(3)(d). The Board's interpretations of statutes and other legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. *Olympic Tug & Barge*, 163 Wn. App. at 306; *see also Campbell v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 150 Wn.2d 881, 894 n.4, 83 P.3d 999 (2004) (If a statute's meaning is plain, then the court must give effect to the plain meaning as expressing what the legislature intended).³ Neither party in this case argues that any applicable statute is ambiguous.

The Board's findings of fact are reviewed under a substantial evidence standard. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e); *Ferry County v. Concerned*

³ In the case of a statutory ambiguity, courts accord substantial deference to the agency, in this case the Department, which administers the statutes in question and has developed longstanding interpretations. *Verizon NW, Inc. v. Employment Security Dep't*, 164 Wn.2d 909, 915, 194 P.3d 255 (2008); see also General Motors Corp. v. City of Seattle, 107 Wn. App. 42, 57, 25 P.3d 1022 (2001).

Friends of Ferry County, 155 Wn.2d 824, 833, 123 P.3d 102 (2005).

Klein Honda has not challenged any of the Board's findings of fact. Opening Br. at 3; CP 6 (Petition for Judicial Review). Thus, they should be treated as verities on appeal. *Stuewe v. Dep't of Revenue*, 98 Wn. App. 947, 950, 991 P.2d 634 (2000).

Applying the foregoing standards, this Court should affirm the Board's decision in this case.

A. The B&O Tax Applies To Income From All Business Activities.

The Board and the Superior Court correctly upheld the assessments of B&O tax on Klein Honda's dealer cash income during the tax period. AR 14-15. Washington's B&O tax is imposed "for the act or privilege of engaging in business activities" and applies to the gross income of the business. RCW 82.04.220. "Business" includes "*all* activities engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage to the taxpayer or to another person or class, directly or indirectly." RCW 82.04.140 (emphasis added). "Gross income of the business" is broadly defined as:

[T]he value proceeding or accruing by reason of the transaction of the business engaged in and includes gross proceeds of sales, compensation for the rendition of services, . . . interest, discount, rents, royalties, fees, commissions, dividends, and other emoluments however designated, all without any deduction on account of the cost of tangible property sold, the cost of materials used, labor costs, interest, discount, delivery costs, taxes, or any other

expense whatsoever paid or accrued and without any deduction on account of losses.

RCW 82.04.080(1) (emphasis added).⁴ Likewise, RCW 82.04.090 defines "value proceeding or accruing" in pertinent part as "the consideration, whether money, credits, rights, or other property expressed in terms of money, actually received or accrued."

Unlike the federal income tax, the B&O tax is not a tax on profit, net gain, capital gain, or sales "but a tax on the total money or money's worth received in the course of doing business." *Budget Rent-A-Car of Wash.-Oregon v. Dep't of Revenue*, 81 Wn.2d 171, 173, 500 P.2d 764 (1972). The B&O tax provisions "leave practically no business and commerce free of the business and occupation tax." *Id.*, 81 Wn.2d at 175. As a result, unless an exception or deduction applies, a taxpayer owes B&O tax on all income received.

⁴ Klein Honda argues that the Board's decision "ignores the definition of gross income" and fails to address whether dealer cash was a "nontaxable rebate" on the dealer's wholesale purchase from American Honda, rather than taxable gross income. Opening Br. at 8-9. In fact, the Board quoted the statutory definition of "gross income of the business" in Conclusion of Law No. 4. AR 26-27. Likewise, in the "Analysis" section, the Board explained the difference between dealer cash and payments from the manufacturer that are considered "deductions from the wholesale price," concluding that dealer cash credits "are taxable as business revenue." AR 24-25. In Conclusion of Law Nos. 5 and 6, the Board held that Klein Honda was liable to pay B&O tax on dealer cash and that the Department's assessment was affirmed. AR 27. Klein Honda does not fairly characterize the Board's decision. The Board decided all issues requiring resolution, even if not in the detail or from the standpoint Klein Honda would prefer.

1. Dealer cash is subject to B&O tax as "gross income of the business."

Here, the total money Klein Honda received in the course of doing business as a Honda automobile dealership included its income from selling cars to customers. It also included Klein Honda's income from American Honda for providing predelivery inspection services or warranty services. And as the Board and the Superior Court correctly concluded, it also included dealer cash. Just like those other sources of income, dealer cash constituted "value proceeding or accruing by reason of" the transaction of Klein Honda's business and was therefore taxable as "gross income of the business." RCW 82.04.080.

Specific examples of "gross income of the business" in the statutory definition include "gross proceeds of sales" and "compensation for the rendition of services." *Id.* Klein Honda argues that dealer cash falls within neither of these and cannot be considered taxable gross income "unless it is a payment for services." Opening Br. at 8, 10, 14-15. But the statutory definition of taxable gross income applies to *any* "value proceeding or accruing by reason of" transacting business, and a number of the examples listed do not involve payments for services (e.g., "interest" and "royalties"). In addition, to clearly express its intent to tax all business income not otherwise exempted, the Legislature's last example in the definition is a catch-all, "other emoluments however designated." RCW 82.04.080. In short, a business can be liable for B&O tax on amounts (including dealer cash) that do not represent compensation for services rendered.⁵

In arguing to the contrary, Klein Honda confuses a *necessary* with a *sufficient* condition. Certainly, receiving income from providing services is *sufficient* to qualify as taxable "gross income of the business," which includes "compensation for the rendition of services." RCW 82.04.080. But taxable gross income is not limited to compensation for services; it can include other business fees, perquisites, gains, benefits, advantages, profits, or "other emoluments however designated." *See Getty Images, Inc. v. City of Seattle,* 163 Wn. App. 590, 601-02, 606, 260 P.3d 926 (2011) (under City's near-identical definition of "gross income," funds a corporation received to pay its affiliates' administrative and managerial service costs fell within definition as "emoluments however designated"), *review denied,* 173 Wn.2d 1014 (2012).

Accordingly, it is not *necessary* for dealer cash to represent compensation for services in order to be taxable. And because dealer cash is a payment Klein Honda receives from American Honda by reason of its

⁵ Contrary to Klein Honda's statements, the Department did make this argument below. *See* AR 39, VTP 143-45.

business activities, dealer cash is subject to B&O tax as "gross income of the business."

2. Klein Honda's income from dealer cash is taxable at the catch-all rate under the "service & other" classification.

Under the B&O tax statutes, the tax rate varies according to the nature of the business the taxpayer is engaging in. For instance, Klein Honda's gross income from sales of vehicles to customers is subject to the retailing rate in RCW 82.04.250 (currently 0.471 percent). The Department assessed B&O tax on dealer cash under the "service & other" classification in RCW 82.04.290(2). AR 790-93. That classification is not limited to income from providing services. The service & other classification imposes a tax rate of 1.5 percent (during the tax period) on the gross income of "*any* business activity *other than or in addition* to an activity taxed explicitly under another section in this chapter" RCW 82.04.290(2) (emphasis added).⁶ Klein Honda's dealer cash receipts are subject to B&O tax under the "service & other" classification regardless of whether they are considered compensation for services rendered or any "other emolument however designated."

⁶ Businesses may owe B&O tax under multiple tax classifications for portions of their gross income if they engage in multiple business activities. RCW 82.04.440(1).

a. When Klein Honda earned dealer cash, it was providing a service to American Honda.

The service and other classification includes activities of persons engaged in the business of rendering "any type of service" that does not constitute a "sale at retail" or "sale at wholesale."⁷ Earning dealer cash is properly considered a service that does not constitute a "sale at retail" or "sale at wholesale." The terms of the marketing bulletins create an offer accepted by the performance of services. American Honda conditions payment to dealers on (a) selling the identified model of a vehicle within the specified time period, (b) properly documenting the sale to American Honda, and (c) performing a self-audit of the list of qualifying vehicle sales. AR 723-64; see also AR 100 (the bulletin "is our contract.... If we don't do everything to the letter of these bulletins they can say, we're not going to give you the dealer cash"). This service benefited both Klein Honda (with direct income from the sale and additional income from the dealer cash) and American Honda (by moving vehicles out of Klein Honda's inventory and putting Klein Honda in a position to make more wholesale purchases from American Honda).

⁷ Examples of services constituting "sales at retail" include cleaning, repairing, or constructing property for consumers, automobile towing services, and furnishing lodging. RCW 82.04.050(2)(a), (b), (e), (f). Services constituting "sales at wholesale" are described in RCW 82.04.060.

b. Even if dealer cash is not a payment for services, it is properly taxable under the service & other B&O tax classification as an "other emolument."

Although the service & other classification expressly mentions services not falling within the retailing or wholesaling classifications, it does so "without limiting the scope" of the category to other business activities. RCW 82.04.290(2). In other words, taxpayers can have taxable business income subject to the service & other rate without providing any "services" to earn that income.

One example of a taxable business activity subject to tax under the service & other classification in RCW 82.04.290(2) is interest financial institutions earn on loans or investments. Although banks are allowed to deduct from their taxable gross income amounts received from interest on first mortgages or trust deeds on residential properties under RCW 82.04.4292, other investment or interest income they earn generally is taxable under RCW 82.04.290(2).⁸

The requirements for taxation of any other "business activity" under RCW 82.04.290(2) are certainly met by the *quid pro quo* of the marketing bulletins: if the dealer sells a particular model of vehicle within a particular time period, American Honda will pay a particular amount of

⁸ This would include the interest Klein Honda's bank receives from Klein Honda on the line of credit for Klein Honda's vehicle inventory.

cash to the dealer.⁹ Under the dealer cash incentive, Klein Honda had a source of income in addition to its sales income from customers, which it earned when it sold the specifically identified vehicles during the designated time periods. This was a business activity "in addition to" the retailing activity of transferring possession of new vehicles to customers in return for consideration. RCW 82.04.290(2).

Klein Honda agrees that the measure of the tax turns on the nature business activity, but argues that "[r]eceiving dealer cash—or any other payment—is not a business activity," unlike "selling cars" and "servicing and repairing vehicles." Opening Br. at 9. From this premise, Klein Honda appears to argue that because, in its view, it did nothing extra beyond selling cars to obtain dealer cash, and its "gross proceeds of sales" from selling the cars were already subject to retailing B&O tax under RCW 82.04.250(1), the "service & other" rate under RCW 82.04.290(2) is inapplicable. Opening Br. at 9-12. Both the premise and the conclusion are incorrect.

The premise is flawed because dealer cash is not a payment that spontaneously appears in Klein Honda's accounts without regard to Klein Honda's business activities. Instead, it is a payment Klein Honda *earns* by

⁹ See AR 99-100 ("this is our contract with the factory to get our money, and if we don't do everything to the letter of these bulletins they can say, we're not going to give you the dealer cash").

making a sale of a particular Honda model to a customer during a specified time period and fulfilling the reporting requirements. What Klein Honda must do to receive the payment qualifies as "business": "all activities engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage to the taxpayer or to another person or class, directly or indirectly." RCW 82.04.140.

Klein Honda relies on a case that is readily distinguishable, Peshastin Lumber & Box, Inc. v. State of Washington, 61 Wn.2d 413, 378 P.2d 420 (1963). Opening Br. at 14-15. In that case the court held that a lumber manufacturer who was required to build logging roads in order to purchase timber from the United States Forest Service was not subject to B&O tax as a public roads builder merely because the cost of building the roads was considered by the appraiser in setting a fair market bid price for the timber. 61 Wn.2d at 415-17. A material fact in *Peshastin* was that the lumber manufacturer received no payment from the government for building the roads. Id. at 415. Instead, building the roads was just one cost of doing business. Id. at 417. "There was, in short, no showing that the [taxpayer] received any remuneration, expressible in terms of money, and consequently this was not a taxable activity." Id. The opposite is true here: Klein Honda received remuneration, dealer cash, for selling specified vehicles to customers during specified time periods.

Klein Honda's "no business activity" argument also conflates its retail sales to customers with all "selling" activities. See Opening Br. at 12 ("[S]elling cannot be the 'other activity' under the services category. Selling is its own category with its own statutory base"). Contrary to this argument, Klein Honda's retailing activities do not preclude the taxation of dealer cash under the service & other classification. Klein Honda pays B&O tax under the retailing classification for its "sales at retail" of automobiles based on the "gross proceeds of sales." RCW 82.04.250(1) (retailing classification); RCW 82.04.070 (definition of "gross proceeds of sales"). A "sale" is a transfer of the ownership or possession of property for valuable consideration under RCW 82.04.040(1), and "sales" of tangible personal property, including automobiles, are "sales at retail" unless purchased for resale or falling within other specified exclusions. RCW 82.04.050(1)(a). The consumer owes retail sales tax on each retail sale, and the seller pays retailing B&O tax on its income from those sales. RCW 82.08.020(1); RCW 82.04.250(1).

To earn dealer cash, Klein Honda does not transfer possession to or make a "sale at retail" of vehicles to American Honda. Accordingly, Klein Honda's income from dealer cash is not subject to retailing B&O tax under RCW 82.04.250(1). This conclusion, however, does not preclude that income from taxation under the service & other classification as an

"other emolument" merely because dealer cash relates to Klein Honda's general activity of "selling." No language in any of the relevant statutes supports that position.

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